RECEIVED 06-09-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN ${\bf COURT\ OF\ APPEALS-DISTRICT\ II}$

Case No 2020AP000056-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL J. REJHOLEC,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in Sheboygan County Circuit Court, the Honorable Rebecca Persick, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JOSEPH N. EHMANN Regional Attorney Manager – Madison Appellate State Bar No. 1016411

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8388 ehmannj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

Were self-incriminating statements Mr. Rejholec made during custodial interrogation coerced and involuntary and thus obtained in violation of his right to due process?

The circuit court answered: no.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Daniel J. Rejholec was charged by information with repeated sexual assault of the same child, exposing intimate parts, and exposing a child to harmful materials, all based upon alleged conduct involving N.R.H., the 14-year-old daughter of his girlfriend, T.T. (25:1-2). Mr. Rejholec filed a motion to suppress incriminatory statements made to police during custodial interrogation on the night of his arrest, arguing the statements were involuntary and thus obtained in violation of his right to due process. (30:1-8). After the court denied the motion (36:1-2; 103:3; App. 105), Mr. Rejholec on April 20, 2018, pled no contest to count one, repeated sexual assault of the same child, and the other two counts were

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 7 of 49

dismissed but read in. (52:1-2; 110:6). On June 22, 2018, the court imposed a 22-year term of imprisonment consisting of 12 years of initial confinement followed by 10 years of extended supervision. (66:1-2).

Mr. Rejholec on June 22, 2018, timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (67:1). On October 3, 2019, Mr. Rejholec filed a postconviction motion seeking sentencing relief arguing the lack of availability of treatment in prison, which the sentencing court mistakenly believed would be available, was a new factor warranting resentencing. (84:1-18). Following a hearing, the court on December 19, 2019, denied Mr. Rejholec's motion. (92:1).

Mr. Rejholec on January 8, 2020, timely filed a notice of appeal from the June 22, 2018, judgment of conviction and the December 19, 2019, order.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

According to information gleaned from the criminal complaint, on January 13, 2017, Sheboygan police officers spoke with Brian H. who informed them that his daughter N.R.H. told him that her mother's boyfriend, Daniel J. Rejholec, sexually assaulted her over the previous month. (6:2-3). N.R.H. also claimed Mr. Rejholec had taken naked pictures of her with his phone and had shown her nude pictures of children or women on his computer. *Id.* Brian H. told officers he shares joint custody of

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 8 of 49

N.R.H. with N.R.H.'s mother, T.T., and is allowed only chaperoned visitation with N.R.H. as Brian H. is a registered sex offender. (6:2). On January 16, 2017, officers executed a search warrant and arrested Mr. Rejholec. (6:3).

Sheboygan police detective Eric Edson interrogated Mr. Rejholec on the night of Rejholec's arrest. The interrogation took place in an 8' x 8' booking cell with only Mr. Rejholec and Edson present. (100:15). It began at 8:40 p.m. and lasted approximately one hour and 36 minutes. (100:20; 113). The interrogation was recorded on a DVD via an overhead camera. (113). Mr. Rejholec adamantly denied engaging in any sexual conduct with N.R.H., but near the end of the interrogation made self-incriminating statements.

On March 29, 2017, Mr. Rejholec filed a motion to suppress his statements from the January 16, 2017, interrogation. Mr. Rejholec argued the statements were involuntary and thus obtained in violation of his right to due process as guaranteed by the 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments, and Wis. Const. Art. I, § 8. (30:1-8).

The suppression motion was heard on June 5, 2017. (100:1-47). The hearing consisted of Detective Edson's testimony (100:5-43), and the court viewing the DVD recording of the interrogation. (103:2; 113). The video shows the interrogation began with Mr. Rejholec fidgeting while isolated in a cramped, windowless room containing a small metal table

bolted to the floor with two attached backless metal stools. (100:15; 113). At the 3:32 mark Edson wheeled in a backed chair, and sat in it several feet from Rejholec as he began the interrogation. (100:24; 113 at 3:41).<sup>1</sup>

Edson testified that he conducted thousands of interviews, had training in interview techniques and was familiar with the "Reid school or model of interview." (100:6-7). Edson testified that the "techniques" or "strategies" he utilized in interrogating Mr. Reiholec included projecting empathy (100:24, 34), positioning himself physically very close to Rejholec during the second part of the interview after Rejholec had taken a bathroom break (100:24, 41), repeatedly telling Rejholec he believed he was lying (100:32-33), minimizing the situation and assigning blame to N.R.H. for "being sexually active or overt" and coming on to him (100:29), and fabricating or lying about having collected semen, DNA and electronic evidence that proved Rejholec's guilt. (100:25, 27, 37, 39).

Edson testified he was aware Mr. Rejholec had no prior arrests or police contact. (100:22). The prosecutor asked Edson "how many times [he] made reference to DNA and law enforcement's collection of DNA during this interview," and Edson responded

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> References to the content of the interrogation DVD will be designated (113: at x:xx), with the minute and second or hour, minute and second of the reference so noted.

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 10 of 49

"just one time in the very beginning of the interview." (100:37).

Regarding DNA evidence, during the first part of the interrogation, after Edson informed Rejholec he had spoken with N.R.H., the following occurred:

Edson: So, is there any reason why your DNA would be on her abdomen or on her vagina?

Rejholec: None whatsoever.

Edson: Ok. Have you ever had a DNA test done before? You said you've never been arrested before, right?

Rejholec: Right.

Edson: Ok. Um...if I told you that we collected what appears to be, um, male semen from her abdomen and from her vagina, would, what would you say? Would you have any insight into where that would have come from?

Rejholec: Not from me.

Edson: Alright. What if it did come back to you, to your, to match your DNA, how would you explain that? Is there any explanation that you can think of, of how to explain how that might happen?

Rejholec: Nope. I didn't touch her, so....

Edson: Ok.

(113: at 32:45-33:51).

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 11 of 49

During the second part of the interrogation, Edson told Mr. Rejholec:

You tell me that your DNA is not going to be on her and I don't have a magic lab here in the police department right now. But we took swabs of various different sources from her body that we use a special light to find things that, that light up and that, you know, certain bodily fluids, blood, semen, urine, those kind of things all have a different kind of glow under a special kind of light, they all fluoresce at a different color. And so we examined her and then we find bodily fluid stains that, you know, stay on the body. And even after you take a shower, certain remnants of that stay on there. We are able to use a cotton swab and swab that off of there. And we've collected a couple of samples from that, as well as from clothing, as well as from bedsheets, ok? Towels, some towels, we've got some stuff from towels. Um, you know. Obviously, I'm not going to lie to you. We don't have all of those results back yet. But those are being processed right now and then very shortly we'll have the results back, ok? Um. And that stuff doesn't lie. I mean DNA evidence has been proven to be very reliable in court and it doesn't lie.

(113: at 54:52-56:01)

Approximately three minutes later, Edson told Rejholec:

Edson: I know that you had sexual contact with her. I know you did. And I'm, I'm going to prove it through forensic evidence. I'm asking you to be honest with me.

Rejholec: How can you know? She's lying.

(113: at 59:01-:09).

A few minutes later Edson again referenced forensic evidence:

Rejholec: She's lied to her teacher, she lies to her counselor. It's all...

Edson: Well, whether she's lied in the past or lied about that kind of stuff, I'm telling you and, and, I firmly believe and, and I guess if you want to wait 'til that [unintelligible] you know. The forensic evidence is going to prove otherwise, Dan. I know that.

(113: at 1:03:26-:45).

Edson acknowledged during the suppression hearing that there had been no forensic examination to identify or locate DNA evidence, and no inspection of electronic devices for evidence. Edson testified that lying to Mr. Rejholec about the existence of forensic evidence was an interrogation "strategy." (100:11, 27, 39).

Edson's testimony that throughout the interrogation he utilized the "interview technique" of "placing blame on the victim along the lines of suggesting it's not the perpetrator's fault," is confirmed by the DVD. (100:29).

Edson: You seem like a really decent guy, Dan, you really do...um...I, I have a feeling that things kind of got moving pretty fast with [N.R.H.], with her attitude, she's 14, she ah

Page 13 of 49

clearly has a little bit of an attitude and I can see how things would quickly with her kind of encouragement, and, and, you know things like that and things would get out of control pretty quickly before you had a chance to be able to stop it, ok? And if that's what happened, then that's what we should be talking about right now instead of telling me that, that nothing happened and accusing her of just being a liar and making stuff up.

#### (113: at 47:11-:48)

Edson: As a matter of fact, I have a feeling that she was probably, ah, you know helped encourage it and was a willing participant in this. And if that's the case that mitigates things even more, ok?

#### (113: at 48:02-:12)

Edson: It makes you look foolish, Dan, ok? You made a mistake, an error in judgment, not necessarily all your fault.

#### (113: at 48:27-:35)

Edson: The more evidence we get like that the less people are going to wanna want to sympathize with you and say you know what? This guy, she was hittin' on him, she put the moves on him, she was relentless, she wouldn't stop. I can see how this would happen.

#### (113: at 57:03-:16).

Edson: I don't think you're a bad person because of what happened. I think part of her personality Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 14 of 49

got into your head and, and the circumstances and such, and the time the ability for you to be alone with her and her to be alone with you, and it created a perfect situation where she was able to kind of manipulate, manipulate that to her advantage and unfortunately you got sucked into that. And you made some bad decisions.

#### (113: 1:03:02-:23)

Edson: They're going to paint you to be the villain, Dan. And I don't think that's fair. I don't think you're, you're the only one responsible for what happened.

#### (113: at 1:05:56-1:06:02).

Edson: You seem like a good man to me and you seem like someone who got caught up in a situation that got way out of control, way out of control, and it, it's hard for people to fault you for that because, you know, it could happen to anyone. Especially with a teenage kid. They're manipulative. Everyone knows that.

#### (113: at 1:17:07-:25).

Edson's testimony about telling Rejholec he believed Rejholec was lying and the consequences of a jury believing he was lying, is confirmed by the DVD. (100:32-33).

Edson: I'm going to be straight with you, Dan. I don't believe you. (113: at 43:30)....And I'll be honest with you. When I make that leap from not believing you about the computer it's not a far leap for me to make based upon the interview that I participated with, with [N.R.H.] today

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 15 of 49

about the other stuff that happened. (113: at 43:49-44:04)....Because I'm telling you right now, if I'm sitting here in this chair and, and I don't believe what you're saying, I think a judge and a jury is going to have even more questions. And when you get to that point you don't want a judge and a jury making judgment against you based upon the fact that they think you're lying.

(113: at 44:54-45:13).

Edson: And what I know about computers, your story is a lie. (113: at1:04:23)....The jury is going to see it that way, too.

(113: at104:54).

Edson: And you just keep stacking up the lies and it gets worse and worse and worse for you until at some point the jury says we're going to make an example out of this guy.

(113: at1:05:27-35).

Edson: I, I'm trying to help you out, Dan. I know you're scared.

Rejholec: I don't know what's going to happen.

Edson: Yes, I know that, ok? And what I'm going to tell you is if, if you're honest with me I can be there to help you, and make sure that you're treated fairly and that you don't spend, you know, the rest of your life or a long time in prison. But I need you to be honest with me.

Rejholec: But I'd still be going to prison?

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 16 of 49

Edson: Well you're, sure, you're gonna be, you're gonna be, well I don't know if you're going to jail or if you're going to go to prison, ok? I really don't, and a lot depends on your honesty and your willingness to say I'm sorry for what happened.

(113: at 1:12:30-1:13:04).

Edson: If they believe you, that if it was a mistake and an isolated incident, that you're not out there, you know, looking to, to victimize other people, then they're more likely to, you know, give you probation and to give you counseling and resolve it that way.

(113: at 1:13:15-:33).

Edson: I don't think you belong in prison for a long time and you probably need some counseling, Dan. (113: at 121:09-:13)....I'm just saying, you don't seem to be the kind of person that needs to be in prison. You maybe, maybe just need to talk to somebody and work it out. (113: at 1:21:34-39)....I'm just saying, I don't think you belong in prison for a long time and I think you probably just need to talk to some people and get this squared away. And the first step in that is always just acknowledging what happened, right?

Rejholec: Yes.

(113: at 122:06-:27)

Edson's testimony that he read Miranda warnings to Mr. Rejholec, which included the right to counsel and right to remain silent, is confirmed by Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 17 of 49

the DVD. (100:18-19; 113: at 4:05-5:41). The DVD shows Edson read the waiver and warnings from a form, that Edson then directed Mr. Rejholec to sign the waiver form, and that Rejholec complied with the directive. *Id.* The DVD also shows Edson later returned to the topic of Mr. Rejholec's right to counsel:

Edson: This stuff always comes out in the end. And you're not, if, if your attorney's any good they're probably not going to let you tell your side of the story. They're not going to let you get in front of a jury so the jury is not going to hear your side of the story. They're not gonna, all they're gonna know is that you lied, ok?

(113: at 45:15-:31)

Much later in the interview, with Mr. Rejholec repeatedly denying anything improper occurred with N.R.H., Edson again returned the topic of Mr. Rejholec's right to counsel:

Edson: We're really, you know, at an impasse now and once, once we're done talking, you and I are not going to have another chance to talk, Dan, ok? Because most likely you'll get an attorney either through a public defender or you'll hire an attorney yourself, and the first thing that attorney is going to tell you is, you're not going to talk to the police anymore. You're not going to get to a chance to tell your story. So the jury is never going to hear your side of the story. They're never going to hear that you're sorry. They are never going to be able to hear that [T.T.], ah, er, [N.R.H.], um, you know,

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 18 of 49

manipulated whatever this and that. This is your opportunity to tell the truth and to tell your side of the story.

(113: at 1:07:45-1:08:22).

Edson: I feel like we're, like we're moving backwards, Dan. We're moving backwards. (113: at 1:14:52-:57)....You don't have any reason to trust me other than you have my word. And I'm, I'm telling you that I am a man of my word. And I hope you believe me because I'm looking you in the eye and I'm telling you that I'm a man of my word and I'm here to help you out, to get through this. But I can't help you, Dan, if you're not being honest with me. I just have to go do my report and say we had, you know, part ways, you and I will never have a chance to talk again. And I won't be able help to advocate for you.

(113: at 1:15:24-:52).

Rejholec: So what about having a lawyer involved or, ah, what you're saying can be used in a court?

Edson: Right, yeah. Like I said, I read you your Miranda warnings and you certainly can have the right to talk to a lawyer. And what I told you before is that's fine. If you tell me you wanna talk to a lawyer, then you and I are done talking, ok? And like I said, you don't get, you know, if that's what you want, then you have to tell me that's what you want, ok? I'm just trying to get to the truth. I'm just trying to give you an opportunity to tell your side of the story before it's too late to be able to do that.

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 19 of 49

(113: at 1:16:21-:54).

Edson: And I'm here to tell you Dan, I'm not the one that's gonna judge you. I'm not the one. I'm just here to get the facts and to support your end of this, and to tell your story. That's all I'm here for Dan.

(113: at 1:17:54-1:18:06)

Edson: And you know right now, I'm the one that's going to be able to help you the most, I think, by telling your story, especially if you tell me that you're, you're, you know, sorry for what happened, that it was a mistake.

Rejohlec: Yeah, I'm sorry.

(113: at 1:19:00-1:19:16).

Edson: When was the first time that N.R.H. was kind of putting the moves on you? How long ago was that? [long pause]

Rejholec: [unintelligible] probably the week I watched her.

(113: at 1:22:37-1:23:00).

Rejholec then told Edson N.R.H. the previous week came home from school and "started getting all, acting funny" and wanted to "rub on" his leg and "groin area," adding "she came onto me and just started doing it." (113: at 1:23:42-1:24:02). Rejholec then admitted taking naked pictures of N.R.H. and showing N.R.H. nude pictures. (113: at 1:27:25, 1:27:47).

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 20 of 49

Edson then after a long silence told Rejholec:

Edson: I believe Dan that, ah, on more than one occasion the two of you were at least partially naked together, um, either you touching her vagina, her touching your penis you putting your tongue on her vagina or her putting your penis in her mouth. I'm trying to decide in my own head how often I think that happened...can you give me an idea whether it was just for a second or whether it was a prolonged, you know, several seconds or minutes and how many times that might have happened....

Rejholec: A couple of times.

(113: at 1:28:57-1:29:54, 1:30:13)

After Edson's testimony, the court indicated it would watch the DVD and took the case under advisement. (100:44). The court convened for an oral ruling on July 21, 2017. Mr. Rejholec's attorney made no additional argument, indicating he would "just rest on the contents of [his] motion." (103:2-3). The court ruled by stating "looking at a totality of circumstances and the defendant's personal characteristics, I'm going to deny the defense motion. I don't believe the statements were coerced." (103:3) (App. 105).

Thereafter, Mr. Rejholec pled guilty to count one, repeated sexual assault of the same child, and the two remaining counts were dismissed but read in. Following sentencing, Mr. Rejholec timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (67).

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Appellant Filed 06-09-2020 Page 21 of 49

Mr. Rejholec litigated a postconviction motion requesting sentence modification which, after a hearing, the circuit court denied. (84:1-18; 111:1-17).

Mr. Rejholec timely filed a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction and from the order denying his postconviction motion. (93). The only issue being raised on appeal is plea withdrawal based on a challenge to court's erroneous ruling in denying Mr. Rejholec's suppression motion.

#### ARGUMENT

Officer Edson's Reid-style interrogation which included lies about what evidence police possessed and misinformation and lies about the legal process and the consequences of Mr. Rejholec invoking his right to counsel rendered Rejholec's self-incriminatory statements coerced and involuntary in violation of Mr. Rejholec's right to due process.

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