FILED
09-17-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP56-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL J. REJHOLEC,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN SHEBOYGAN COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE REBECCA L. PERSICK, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

In his suppression motion, Rejholec specifically told the court he was not arguing that Edson violated Miranda. He stated he "does not contend that there was a Miranda violation." (R. 30:2.) This is because. Reiholec argued. "Detective Edson did advise Mr. Rejholec of his Miranda rights both verbally and in writing. Mr. Rejholec then signed a waiver form, acknowledging that he was waiving his *Miranda* rights."⁷ (*Id.*) Also in his suppression motion, Rejholec argued that "[a]t one point during the interrogation, Mr. Rejholec did ask about having a lawyer involved. Detective Edson responded that he had a right to talk to a lawyer and if he told him he wanted a lawyer then they would be done talking if that's what he wanted."8 (R. 30:7.) And, at the suppression hearing, trial counsel stated, "Just so the record is clear, we're not actually challenging the Miranda portion." (R. 100:21.)

But for the first time on appeal, Rejholec argues that Edson "undermined the purpose and substance of the *Miranda* warnings" when he told Rejholec that a jury is never going to hear his side of the of the story. (Rejholec's Br. 27–29, 34.) Yet as the audio shows (R. 113, minute 1:16:33), and as Rejholec admitted to the trial court, Edson informed Rejholec he "had a right to talk to a lawyer and if he told him he wanted a lawyer then they would be done talking if that's what he wanted." (R. 30:7.) Also admitted by Rejholec, "Rejholec remained silent and did not respond." (*Id.*) Indeed,

⁷ Rejholec recognizes in his brief, "[t]he interrogation DVD shows that after reading aloud a *Miranda* rights form Edson directed Rejholec to sign a waiver form, and Rejholec complied." (Rejholec's Br. 27.)

 $^{^{8}}$ The audio recording supports this. (R. 113: minute 4:05–5:45.)

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-17-2020 Page 22 of 32

Rejholec also remained silent after Edson told him seconds later, "If that's what you want [a lawyer], you have to tell me that's what you want." (R. 113, minute 1:16:44.) Therefore, it is undisputed that Rejholec never told Edson to stop or that he wanted a lawyer.

Rejholec briefly cites three federal cases and one out-of-state case to support his position that "Rejholec's subsequent admissions [are] involuntary": *Hart v. Attorney Gen. of the State of Florida*, 323 F.3d 884 (11th Cir. 2003); *United States v. Anderson*, 929 F.2d 96 (2nd Cir. 1991); *Commonwealth v. Baye*, 967 N.E.2d 1120 (Mass. 2012); and *California Attorneys for Criminal Justice v. Butts*, 195 F.3d 1039, 1047 (9th Cir. 1999). (Rejholec's Br. 29–30.) All those cases are distinguishable.

In *Hart*, the officers explained each *Miranda* warning to Hart, including that anything he said could be used against him in court. 323 F.3d at 893. Hart then signed the waiver form. Id. Nevertheless, Hart asked the detective about the "pros and cons" of hiring a lawyer, which, the Eleventh Circuit held, indicated that he "did not fully understand" his rights and was asking for clarification of them. Id. at 894. In response, the detective told him that the "disadvantage" of having a lawyer was that the lawyer would tell him not to answer incriminating questions. Id. The detective also told Hart that "honesty wouldn't hurt him." Id. The Eleventh Circuit held that Hart "did not truly understand the nature of his right against self-incrimination or the consequences that would result from waiving it," meaning that his waiver was not voluntary. Id. at 895. In so holding, the court emphasized that it had interpreted the officer's comment in light of the totality of the circumstances, especially the fact that the suspect had asked for a clarification of his rights, which indicated that he did not truly understand the nature of his right against self-incrimination or the consequences of waiving that right. See id. at 894–95 & nn.19, 21.

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-17-2020 Page 23 of 32

Nothing like that happened here. To the contrary, nothing indicates that Rejholec was unsure of his rights. Nothing indicates Rejholec did not understand the *Miranda* warnings that were originally read to him. And, the recording indicates that later in the interview, Edson told him, "You can have a right to a lawyer. If that's what you want, we're done talking." (R. 113, minute 1:16:33.)

Anderson is also distinguishable. There, the agent told the defendant that "this [is] the time to talk to us, because once you tell us you want an attorney we're not able to talk to you and as far as I [am] concerned, we probably would not go to the U.S. Attorney or anyone else to tell them how much [you] cooperated with us." Anderson, 929 F.2d at 97 (alterations in original). The Second Circuit found that this statement was false and misleading because it is common practice for defendants to enter into cooperation agreements with the government after retaining counsel. Id. at 100. The court explained that the agent's statement may have caused the defendant to develop "a false sense that he must confess at that moment or forfeit forever any future benefit that he might derive from cooperating with the police agents." Id. Accordingly, the court held that "[u]nder the totality of the circumstances, [the agent's] statements contributed to the coercive atmosphere already inherent in custodial interrogation and rendered [the defendant's] confession involuntary." *Id.* at 102.

But in this case, Edson in no way indicated that, if Rejholec did not confess to him at that moment, he would "forfeit forever" a chance to cooperate with him or the police. Also, Edson informed Rejholec that if Rejholec was honest Edson with him, that would put that in his report/recommendation to the district attorney. (R. 113, minute 1:18:00.) See Deets, 187 Wis. 2d at 637 (no impropriety where police told defendant that if he did not cooperate, district attorney would look at the case differently).

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-17-2020 Page 24 of 32

Baye is also inapposite. (See Rejholec's Br. 30, 37.) In that Massachusetts case, the officers engaged in "multiple improprieties" and dissuaded the defendant, in a nearly tenhour interrogation, from speaking with an attorney by "clearly implying" that his statements would not be used against him. Baye, 967 NE.2d 1120. But here, Rejholec's interview lasted an hour and a half⁹, he was given a bathroom break, Edson did not engage in "multiple problematic tactics" (see id.), and Rejholec was never told or implied that his statements would not be used against him. Thus, this case is distinguishable from Baye.

Rejholec's reliance on Butts, 195 F.3d 1039(abrogated by Chavez v. Martinez, 538 U.S. 760 (2003)), is also misplaced. In Butts, plaintiffs sued the City of Los Angeles and individual officers for an alleged policy, set forth in certain training programs and materials, which authorized continued interrogation "outside Miranda" despite the suspects' invocation of their right to remain silent and their requests for an attorney. The policy was based on the position that the coerced statements could be used at impeachment at trial. The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants used coercion and intimidation to obtain incriminating statements. The Ninth Circuit denied qualified immunity to officers who had intentionally violated the suspects' Miranda rights, in accordance with their training and departmental policy. The court stated, "Officers who intentionally violate the rights protected by Miranda must expect to have to defend themselves in civil actions." Butts, 195 F.3d at 1050. Here,

_

⁹ See State v. Turner, 136 Wis. 2d 333, 401 N.W.2d 827 (1987) (Twelve and one-half hours of custodial questioning over two days did not render statements involuntary); State v. Williams, 220 Wis. 2d 458, 583 N.W.2d 845 (Ct. App. 1998) (An interrogation consisting of three separate sessions over a 25-hour period was not involuntary where suspect was allowed to sleep, eat, drink and relax when it was requested.).

Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-17-2020 Page 25 of 32

unlike *Butts*, Rejholec does not introduce any evidence of custom, policy, or practice established by the Sheboygan Police Department for violating *Miranda* rights.

In this case, the trial court was correct in its synopsis:

At one point [Rejholec] asked about having a lawyer, and the detective told him that he had that right, and if that's what he wanted, they'd be done talking. So [Rejholec] not only got the *Miranda* warnings written and verbally at the beginning of the interview, but that right to an attorney was reiterated during the interview.

(R. 103:4.) Simply put, Rejholec was not deceived about "the nature of his rights and the consequences of abandoning them." *Moran v. Burbine*, 475 U.S. 412, 423–24 (1986). *See also Illinois v. Perkins*, 496 U.S. 292, 297 (1990) ("Ploys to mislead a suspect or lull him into a false sense of security that do not rise to the level of compulsion or coercion to speak are not within *Miranda*'s concerns."). Trial counsel in this case was correct when he chose not to argue that *Miranda* was "undermined."

Finally, the issue in this case is not whether Edson actively misled Rejholec or whether Edson "undermined" *Miranda*; rather, the ultimate question is whether, under the totality of the circumstances, Rejholec voluntarily confessed. He did.

D. The circuit court was correct. Under the totality of the circumstances, Rejholec's confession was not coerced, it was voluntary.

Rejholec argues that under the totality of the circumstances, his confession was coerced. (Rejholec's Br. 30–38.) The trial court disagreed, and this Court should affirm.

First, to avoid redundancy, and because the test is totality of the circumstances, the State incorporates its Case 2020AP000056 Brief of Respondent Filed 09-17-2020 Page 26 of 32

arguments in Subsection B., "Edson's Interrogation of Rejholec was not coercive," and Subsection C., "*Miranda* was not undermined."

Second, the trial court properly looked at the totality of the circumstances and Rejholec's personal characteristics (R. 103:3) when it concluded that Rejholec's statements were not coerced. See State v. Knapp, 2003 WI 121, 265 Wis. 2d 278, 666 N.W.2d 881. The court found that Edson "spoke very casually." (R. 103:3.) Rejholec "didn't appear fearful or sleepy. He felt comfortable asking for a bathroom break, which he was given." (Id.) Rejholec appeared "to be intelligent." (Id.) "[H]e didn't seem confused or intimidated by the process." (Id.) The court found that "[t]his wasn't a situation like you see on TV with the good cop/bad cop. There were no threats made." (R. 103:3-4.) Edson was "soft-spoken," both Edson and Rejholec were seated during the interview, Rejholec was not in handcuffs, and "[t]here were no threats made or offers or promises other than if [Rejholec] told the truth [Edson] would convey that." (R. 103:4-5.) While Edson did "pressure [Rejholec] to be honest," he did not do it in a way that "rises to the level of overcoming [his] will." (R. 103:4.) Edson's strategy was not coercive. (Id.)

The audio recording (R. 113) supports these findings and the court's ultimate conclusion that Rejholec's confession was voluntary. Edson never yelled or drew his weapon. His questioning lasted only about an hour and a half, and Rejholec was allowed to go to the bathroom when he asked. Rejholec was a mature adult, at least in a chronological sense, and there is no evidence that his intelligence was below average. See Frazier, 394 U.S. at 739 (interrogator's lie that accomplice had already confessed, while "relevant," was insufficient to make defendant's otherwise voluntary confession inadmissible where "questioning was of short duration, and petitioner was a mature individual of normal intelligence").

While Rejholec asserts that he was both "unemployed and uneducated" (Rejholec's Br. 31), he cites to nothing in the record to support these two assertions. This is because the reverse is true. Rejholec attended and *graduated* from high school. (R. 59:13; 109:3; 30:3.) He was also *employed* at SEEK Services prior to his arrest. (*Id.*) So, when looking at Rejholec's individual characteristics, the Court cannot consider that he was "unemployed" and "uneducated" (Rejholec's Br. 31) because it's not true. 10

While Rejholec also argues the Edson was "armed and imposing" (Rejholec's Br. 32), the trial court found that while Edson "did have a gun and a badge and a radio . . . they were all on his belt. They weren't prominent." (R. 103:3.) This is confirmed by Edson's testimony: at no time did he display his gun. (R. 100:17–18, 23–24.)

Rejholec also argues that the interview room was "uncomfortable claustrophobia-inducing." (Rejholec's Br. 32.) This was never argued to the trial court, either in Rejholec's motion or at the hearing, and so the court did not make a finding on this. (R. 30; 100.) Regardless, when asked at the motion hearing, "Is that a room that is used commonplace for these types of interviews?" Edson replied,

¹⁰ Even trial counsel recognized this is his suppression motion: Edson "graduated from high school, he has no physical limitations and he has no diagnosed mental health issues." (R. 30:3.)

¹¹ The State is unable to verify this finding from the recording, because as previously stated the recording in the appellate record (R. 113) is audio only. As the appellant, Rejholec has the burden to make sure the record is complete. An appellate court will assume the missing material supports the circuit court ruling under attack. *See State v. Holmgren*, 229 Wis. 2d 358, 362 n.2, 599 N.W.2d 876 (Ct. App. 1999). Rejholec has not shown that this factual finding is clearly erroneous.

¹² See note 3, supra.

"Yes. There are four to five identical rooms in the booking area. And they are used to interview people that are in custody." (R. 100:16.)

But Rejholec invokes *Hoppe*, 261 Wis. 2d 294 (Rejholec's Br. 32, 37), to argue that Edson's tactics overcame Rejholec's "free and unrestrained will." But *Hoppe* is nothing like what we have here. ¹³ *Hoppe* addressed law enforcement's use of numerous coercive techniques with a demonstrably incapacitated suspect. *Id.* ¶¶ 47–49. ¹⁴ In this case, unlike

Hoppe was suffering from cognitive impairment associated with his chronic alcoholism. He had deficits in his shortterm memory and impairment of his reasoning and problem-solving abilities. He was hallucinating. He was confabulating, meaning that he was making up for his deficits by answering questions by stating what he thought sounded correct or reasonable. Hoppe had a tendency during the questioning to adopt, over time, the scenarios suggested by [police] during the course of the interviews. He had difficulty understanding the questions as evidenced by a need for repetition and long pauses between questions and answers. He demonstrated difficulty following simple directions. Hoppe had slurred speech and drifted off. During the second and third interviews, he was on a Librium protocol, which reportedly can cause confusion.

Hoppe's physical state was affected by his alcoholism and his state of alcohol withdrawal. He was lethargic, dehydrated, had been vomiting, and suffered tremors. Upon admission to the hospital, his blood sugar was low and he needed oxygen. Dr. Hayes believed that Hoppe was not competent to consent to questioning and not competent to withdraw his consent. While Dr. Hayes' opinion in this regard is not a legal conclusion, it is a professional opinion

¹³ The Massachusetts case that Rejholec cites, *Commonwealth v. Baye*, 967 N.E.2d 1120 (Mass. 2012) (*see* Rejholec's Br. 37–38), is also not on point, and is distinguished in Subsection C., "*Miranda* was not undermined."

¹⁴ The *State v. Hoppe* Court detailed the defendant's condition during the interviews:

Hoppe, there is simply no evidence that Rejholec "was having significant mental and physical difficulties at the time of the interview." Id. ¶ 47.

E. If this Court concludes that the trial court erred in denying Rejholec's motion to suppress evidence, the remedy would be to remand for the trial court to enter an order granting suppression.

As argued above, the circuit court properly denied Rejholec's motion to suppress his confession. If this Court were to disagree, and reverse the circuit court's decision and judgment, the remedy would not be plea withdrawal, but only remand to the circuit court to enter an order granting either or both suppression motions.

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